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1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 In AWI's view, the style and content of the Statutory Funding Agreement ('SFA'), in the way it sets out the relationship between the Commonwealth and AWI, is sound and appropriate. While improvements and enhancements are currently under discussion between the parties, the necessary mechanisms to ensure the proper use of funds by AWI and its accountability to stakeholders, as well as adequate remedies, are already in place. 

1.2 AWI’s shareholders fixed what they concluded was a problem with AWI and voted in a new board at the Annual General Meeting in 2002.  AWI's strong belief is that the combination of the SFA and the regulatory framework of the Corporations Act 2001 have proven effective to make the board accountable for its actions.    

1.3 Since the election of the current board on 4 November 2002, AWI and the Commonwealth have worked, and continue to work, closely and co-operatively to:

(a) ensure that AWI complies with its obligations in the SFA.   Co-operation between the Commonwealth and AWI is the most effective way of achieving compliance, not only with the express provisions of the SFA, but also with its intent.  Indeed, AWI suggests that the Minister and his department have acted in the most appropriate manner in deciding to allow the corporate model to work and by engaging in direct dialogue with AWI; and 

(b) address and resolve many of the issues that have been raised during the course of the current Inquiry.  

1.4 In December 2002, AWI formed a Finance & Audit Committee that commissioned PricewaterhouseCoopers ('PwC') to conduct a mid-year review of AWI's financial affairs.  In parallel, the board of AWI has worked closely with management to strengthen governance procedures and to improve controls. 

1.5 Since its election, the new board of AWI has: 

(i) substantially reduced management’s delegations so that the board can exercise control over the company’s operations;

(ii) improved the transparency of AWI's monthly management financial reports; 

(iii) resolved that, as a matter of priority, all projects should be covered by formal contracts prior to being acted on; 

(iv) promulgated an Advance Payments policy which provides guidelines on how the company is to process advance payment requests made by research providers;

(v) resolved that any campaigning for re-election must be undertaken at the directors', rather than at AWI's, expense;

(vi) formed a Remuneration and Appointments Committee of the board which sets policy on remuneration issues for the company; and

(vii) instructed its lawyers to correspond with members of the former board, seeking repayment of director's fees and travel costs, explanations of payments identified by PwC and assistance with claims made by third parties. 

1.6 With respect to the evidence given by Mr Dorber to the Committee on 26 June 2003, AWI summarises its response as follows:

(a) Mr Dorber asserted that the $24m from the sale of AWI’s interest in the CSIRO properties could be spent in any way that corporate law permitted, including agri-political activity, and was not subject to the SFA.  

(i) The board does not agree that the SFA contemplates AWI having a separate pool of funds which is not governed by the SFA (paragraphs 5.3 and 5.4);

(b) Mr Dorber drew a distinction between how levy funds and Commonwealth matching funds could be spent under the SFA. 

(i) The board believes that the SFA leaves no room for doubt that both levy funds and Commonwealth matching funds must be spent by AWI efficiently, effectively and ethically and for the benefit of Australian woolgrowers (paragraphs 5.5 to 5.8);

(c) 34 projects with a combined value of $14,342,846, not 9 projects in total as claimed by Mr Dorber, were approved by AWI prior to 1 December 2002 without executed contracts in place.  

(i) Of serious concern to the board was the fact that $3,430,000 had been paid to research providers for these projects before formal contracts were executed.  

(ii) There were an additional 34 projects valued at $8,265,000 which were also not the subject of binding agreements, some of which also involved payments.  PwC was not able to determine the dates on which these projects were actually approved.  

(iii) The board does not accept that AWI’s position was adequately protected by ‘letters of agreement’ and notes that, in a few cases, there was not even such a letter in place before payments had been made, for example, in respect of the Farmhand donation  and the European Wool Awards (paragraphs 5.11 to 5.14);

(d) during the period immediately prior to the election of directors in October 2002, Mr Dorber actively campaigned for the re-election of the existing board at AWI's expense.

(i) He engaged a freelance journalist to ask specific questions at a speech given by Ian McLachlan at the Victorian Rural Press Club.

(ii) He also engaged a communications company specifically to assist in the campaign to have the sitting directors re-elected.  

(iii) The board believes that this expenditure was not for the benefit of AWI or woolgrowers but for the benefit of the sitting directors (paragraphs 5.19 to 5.24);

(e) the proposed Farmhand donation was initially offered unconditionally on 7 October 2002 and only much closer to the Annual General Meeting on 31 October 2002 did Mr Dorber attempt to place restrictions on how the money could be used.  

(i) Mr Dorber advised the new board of the matter at its first meeting on 6 November 2002, stating that there was a contract with Red Cross, but the truth was that there was no contract.  

(ii) The funds were eventually repaid by the Red Cross on 20 November 2002 (paragraphs 5.25 and 5.26);

(f) Shear Express Pty Ltd ('Shear Express'), which was chaired by Mr Dorber at the time, had resolved that Mr Dorber not be entitled to any director's fees because his role as chairman formed part of his duties as managing director of AWI.  The previous AWI board also resolved that Mr Dorber should not be entitled to director's fees.  

(i) Mr Dorber had, in fact, rejected a suggestion made to him on 15 August 2002 that he submit a tax invoice for Shear Express director's fees, stating that he had resolved that he would not be paid them. 

(ii) This notwithstanding, during November 2002, after the first meeting of the new board, Mr Dorber changed his mind and misused his authority.  He telephoned AWI’s Chief Financial Officer, instructing him to arrange payment of Shear Express director's fees from the commencement of his role as chairman to 30 June 2003.  

(iii) He did this without the knowledge of the board.  

(iv) Subsequently, Mr Dorber received director's fees of $24,062.50 from Shear Express.  

(v) He has claimed that he can not recall whether he has been paid despite the fact that he was provided with a Remittance Advice at the time of payment (paragraphs 5.27 to 5.32);

(g) Mr Dorber received the sum of $8,907.67 in advance director's fees from AWI for the period after he ceased to be a director.  

(i) Those director's fees have not been repaid despite letters of request from AWI's lawyers.  

(ii) One other director has not yet repaid their advance but the remaining three directors who were paid the advance have now repaid, or in one case, been repaid, moneys owing (paragraphs 5.33 to 5.35);

(h) While the new board discussed the matter with Mr Dorber at its first meeting and expressed the view that it is an unwise practice to employ one’s relatives in a public company, it advised him that no decision was being taken as to his children’s continued employment with AWI.  

(i) Notwithstanding this advice, Mr Dorber unilaterally took the decision to retrench his own son and daughter as employees of AWI in November 2002 and did not advise the chairman or the board until after he had taken the action.  

(ii) The level of the termination payments made to each of them was excessive and, despite Mr Dorber's admitted conflict of interest, he determined and authorised those amounts.  

(iii) In the case of Holly Dorber, for example, who was only working casually, 2 days per week, and due to finish with AWI in December 2002, Mr Dorber authorised a termination payment equivalent to 12 months of full time (38 hours per week) salary.  

(iv) Mr Dorber also signed the acceptance of his daughter's termination payment on her behalf (paragraphs 5.36 to 5.41);

(i) Mr Dorber's statements at the Annual General Meeting in 2002 concerning AWI's progress in leasing its York Street premises were misleading and Mr Dorber knew that the premises had not been leased (paragraphs 5.43 and 5.44).   

(j) the statements made by the former Chairman at the Annual General Meeting in 2002 and by Mr Dorber to the Committee concerning the number of AWI's staff were materially incorrect in that there were approximately double the number of staff than each claimed (paragraphs 5.45 to 5.47).

(k) contrary to Mr Dorber's testimony, there is no evidence that any objective appraisal was made of several of the significant projects entered into by the old AWI board, including the 'Woodlot' project, the European Wool Awards, Farmhand Drought Appeal donation, Somerville Collection Fund and the Million Dollar Movie (paragraph 5.53).

(l) the form of letter sent by Mr McLachlan to AWI shareholders on 5 June 2003 not only accurately represents what appears in the PwC Report but was expressly approved by PwC before it was sent (paragraph 5.64). 

2. INTRODUCTION

2.1 The Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport Legislation Committee has resolved to inquire into and report on:

(a) the administration and operation of the Statutory Funding Agreement dated 28 December 2000 ('SFA') between the Commonwealth of Australia (represented by the Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry ('the Minister')), Australian Wool Innovation Limited ('AWI') and Australian Wool Services Limited;

(b) the expenditure and application of funds paid to AWI under the terms of the SFA; and

(c) other relevant matters arising from the reference.

2.2 In AWI's view, the style and content of the Statutory Funding Agreement ('SFA'), in the way it sets out the relationship between the Commonwealth and AWI, is sound and appropriate. The SFA  describes in considerable detail how funds provided to AWI, whether through the raising of compulsory woolgrower levies or by the appropriation of Commonwealth matching funds, are to be spent.  It places limitations on that expenditure and it requires all expenditure to pass a 'benefit to woolgrowers' test and for the funds to be spent 'efficiently, effectively, and ethically'.  Improvements and enhancements are currently under discussion between the parties but AWI believes that the basic structure is in place.  

2.3 Further, several provisions in the SFA impose responsibilities on AWI to account for its expenditure and to report on its operations.  The SFA also provides the Commonwealth with a range of remedies in the event that AWI does not fulfil those responsibilities. 

2.4 AWI’s shareholders fixed what they concluded was a problem with AWI and voted in a new board at the Annual General Meeting in 2002.  AWI's strong belief is that the combination of the SFA and the regulatory framework of the Corporations Act 2001 have proven effective in making the board accountable for its actions.    

2.5 Since the election of the current board in November 2002, the Minister and his departmental officials have worked closely and co-operatively with AWI to address and resolve many of the issues that have been raised during the course of the current Inquiry.  Since January of this year, there have been at least 10 face-to-face discussions, many more telephone conversations and regular correspondence.  More recently, AWI and the Minister have exchanged correspondence and information in respect of the Report provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers ('PwC') following its mid-year review of AWI's financial affairs.

2.6 This submission:

· details how the SFA has operated, and continues to operate, effectively;

· outlines the steps taken by the current board of AWI to ensure that AWI meets its responsibilities under the SFA; and

· responds to allegations against, and criticisms of, the current board of AWI that have been made by the former managing director of AWI, Colin Dorber, during his examination by the Committee and in the submission that he lodged during the course of the Inquiry.

2.7 A reference in this submission to a numbered 'Tab' is to the corresponding tab in the accompanying folder of documents.  AWI formally requests that, due to either their commercial sensitivity or privacy issues relating to certain individuals, the documents in that folder remain confidential, with the exception of the documents under Tabs 1, 2, 18, 19 and 20.

3. OPERATION OF THE STATUTORY FUNDING AGREEMENT

3.1 AWI is a company incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001.  As a consequence, shareholders, who currently number 37,000, are able to elect the directors of their choice and to influence corporate investment decisions.  Moreover, the provisions of the Corporations Act require AWI to report regularly to its shareholders and to subject itself to their constant scrutiny.

3.2 Driven simultaneously by its fiduciary responsibilities under the Corporations Act and its obligations under the SFA, it was the current board of AWI, through its Finance & Audit Committee, that commissioned a mid-year review recently conducted by PwC.  That review resulted in findings that were summarised in a letter sent by the chairman of AWI, Ian McLachlan, to AWI's shareholders on 5 June 2003, a copy of which is at Tab 1.  Moreover, the weaknesses in controls that were identified by PwC have been addressed positively by AWI and there has been complete disclosure of the findings to the Minister and his department.  

3.3 Suggestions have been made during the course of this Inquiry that the Minister and his departmental officials should at times have taken stronger action to address perceived or actual breaches of the SFA.  The experience of the current board of AWI is to the contrary.  Within days of the election of the current board on 4 November 2002, the Minister wrote to Mr McLachlan, seeking clarification of the donation of $500,000 to the Farmhand Appeal and urging high standards of corporate governance.  Copies of the Minister's letter dated 18 November 2002 and Mr McLachlan's response dated 22 November 2002 are at Tab 2.  Since that time there have been a number of meetings and correspondence at both ministerial/board and department official/management level.   Senator Troeth has also been involved in some of these meetings.

3.4 During these discussions, which have been frank and co-operative, AWI has provided the Commonwealth with information about its operations and explained what action it has taken on identified problem areas.  The Commonwealth has communicated clearly its expectations of AWI throughout this period.  For example, departmental officials have advised AWI management of the need:

(a) for AWI to prepare a comprehensive annual report for 2002/03 that is in full compliance with the SFA; and

(b) for AWI's auditors to provide an opinion as to whether expenditure has been made in compliance with the SFA, a matter which is currently the subject of discussion between AWI and its auditors, PwC, in respect of the 2002/03 annual accounts.

3.5 It is AWI's submission that co-operation between the Commonwealth and AWI is the most effective way of achieving compliance, not only with the express provisions of the SFA, but also with its intent.  Indeed, AWI suggests that the Minister and his department have acted in the most appropriate manner in deciding to allow the corporate model to work and by engaging in direct dialogue with AWI.  Any other approach, such as imposing a team of auditors, would have been unlikely to have led to such a successful resolution and would certainly not have done so without major business interruption to AWI and/or a cost to innocent woolgrowers.

3.6 In that regard, negotiations for the extension of the SFA commenced in March 2003 and are currently ongoing.  At the outset, the Commonwealth foreshadowed amendments to the agreement to strengthen governance and reporting requirements and AWI accepted those amendments without reservation.

3.7 The following events are scheduled by AWI over the next four months:

· the provision to shareholders of the new AWI 2003-2008 Strategic Plan which details how AWI intends to invest in research and development projects, as well as its 2003/04 Operating Plan.

· the provision to shareholders of an independently prepared review of performance that will provide an objective analysis on AWI's achievements to date.

· during September 2003, all levy payers will receive their voting kits for WoolPoll 2003, including an analysis of how AWI intends to invest funds under each of the five rates to be polled.

· during October 2003, AWI will release its Annual Report for 2002/03, which will meet the requirements of the SFA and disclose all aspects of AWI's operations for the year.  

3.8 As a prime stakeholder by virtue of the SFA, the Commonwealth will also receive the documentation referred to above.  The WoolPoll and Annual General Meeting, both scheduled for November 2003, will provide the ultimate means for shareholders and other levy payers to express their concerns to AWI, to exercise their democratic right to elect directors and to vote on the level of future funding available to the company.

3.9 For all of the reasons described above, AWI believes that the necessary mechanisms to ensure the proper use of funds by AWI and its accountability to stakeholders, as well as adequate remedies, are already in place.  It is difficult for AWI to see how the agreement could undergo fundamental amendment and still be effective for both the company itself, its shareholders, the Commonwealth and the Australian wool industry.

4. FOCUS OF NEW BOARD

4.1 Five new directors were elected to the board of AWI at the Annual General Meeting held on 31 October 2002.  Those new directors took office on 4 November 2002.  One of the first actions undertaken by the new board at its 6 November 2002 meeting was to ensure that it would exert more control over the operation of AWI by reducing the managing director's authority to approve expenditure from $2m to $500,000.  

4.2 A short time later, AWI and the then managing director, Colin Dorber, executed a Deed of Release setting out the terms of Mr Dorber's departure from the company.

4.3 Having looked more closely at AWI's reports and records, the board became increasingly concerned over aspects of the company's operations.  In December 2002, the board formed a Finance & Audit Committee and appointed Brian van Rooyen as the chairman of that Committee.  The following month, the Finance & Audit Committee commissioned PwC to conduct the review to which reference has already been made in this submission.  In parallel, the board worked closely with management to strengthen governance procedures and to improve controls. 

4.4 Upon the delivery of the PwC Report earlier this year, the board of AWI faced a difficult decision.  It did not wish to be seen as embarking on an exercise simply to criticise the previous board.  Indeed, some of the previous board's initiatives, such as its strategic plan, are still to a large extent in place and the current board is certainly not suggesting that none of the previous board's efforts were of any benefit for woolgrowers.  Nonetheless, the five new directors were encouraged by shareholders to stand for election on the basis that they would improve the transparency and corporate governance of the company.  

4.5 Ultimately, the board considered that its duty of disclosure compelled it to release a summary of PwC's major findings.  However, it did so in a way that disclosed only issues rather than naming individuals.

4.6 The PwC Report has been provided to the Minister, in accordance with AWI's obligations under the SFA.  However, it has been given under strict obligations of confidentiality and in a way designed to ensure that AWI's claim for legal professional privilege in respect of the Report can be maintained.  Nonetheless, AWI has continued to liaise with the Minister's department concerning the issues raised. 

5. RESPONSES TO CRITICISMS AND ALLEGATIONS

5.1 Mr Dorber appeared before the Committee on 26 June 2003, lodged a lengthy submission  and gave evidence on a wide range of matters.  He also invited the Committee to request relevant documentation and explanations from AWI. 

5.2 The responses of AWI outlined below demonstrate a clear philosophical difference in approach taken by the current board compared to that taken by Mr Dorber and/or the previous board.

Operation of SFA
CSIRO Properties
5.3 During his evidence before the Committee, Mr Dorber made the following statement:

'Essentially, the company could spend the money on anything except agri-political activity.  But it could spend money on agri-political activity, provided that was not either Commonwealth money or levy funds.  For example, a board of the company could spend the $24m of funds that I negotiated from the sale of the properties in any way that corporate law permitted it to, without referral to this agreement or to the Commonwealth'.  

5.4 Mr Dorber is incorrect in stating that the proceeds of sale to which he referred constituted a separate pool of funds that could be spent without reference to the SFA.  Under the Ministerial Declaration of 18 December 2000, the interest of the Australian Wool Research and Promotion Organisation in property held by the CSIRO was transferred to AWI.  The property falls within the definition of 'Transferred Asset' under the SFA with the consequence that:

· the proceeds from the sale of the Transferred Assets are to be treated as 'Transferred Moneys' (clause 10.1);

· Transferred Moneys may only be spent on 'Eligible R&D Activities' (clause 10.1) and must not be spent on agri-political activity (clause 10.3);

· the definition of a 'research and development activity' and examples of R&D Activities are set out in Schedule 4 of the SFA.

Unexplained payments
5.5 On 14 December 2001, AWI made a donation of $4,033.20 to Cromer High School by paying three invoices issued by Pages & Pages Booksellers Pty Ltd for Shakespearian plays. 

5.6 On 8 November 2002, Mr Dorber used his AWI corporate American Express Card to pay the sum of $9,660 to the NSW Sports Council for the Disabled.  The corresponding invoice stated that payment was for 104 children and family carers to attend 'Movie Mania'.

5.7 Despite Mr Dorber's recent justification ('payment was from the non-government component of AWI funds - no breach of SFA occurred'), the current board of AWI operates on the basis that the SFA strictly governs levies compulsorily paid by woolgrowers.  Mr Dorber's evidence seems to imply that AWI can spend levy funds more freely than Commonwealth matching funds.  The current board is adamant that the SFA requires that both must be spent efficiently, effectively and ethically and for the benefit of Australian woolgrowers.

5.8 The board is unaware of the reason why the payments described in paragraphs 5.5 and 5.6 were made or how either of them can be characterised as for the benefit of Australian woolgrowers. At Tab 3 are copies of the letters which have passed between the lawyers for AWI and the lawyers for Mr Dorber concerning this issue. 

Corporate governance

Financial reporting and overheads
5.9 Despite the claim by Mr Dorber in paragraph 66 of his submission that the estimate of approximately $20 million for AWI's 2002/03 overheads 'is a spurious and untrue figure', that is the estimate which has been calculated by PwC.  PwC has admittedly recommended that AWI should consider allocating overheads to specific project expenses where appropriate.  However, PwC found that only $1.962 million of the $20 million should be allocated to project expenses, $5.156 million of the costs were part corporate overheads and part project related overheads and the balance ($13.133 million) were classified as corporate overheads.  

5.10 Under AWI's previous management, a large percentage of such costs were attributed to project expenses so that it was not possible to ascertain the company's true operating costs.  One of the new board's initial priorities was to improve the transparency of the monthly management financial reports to enable it to exercise effective cost control. 

Projects without contracts
5.11 PwC have identified 34 projects with a combined value of $14,342,846 which were approved by AWI prior to 1 December 2002 without executed contracts in place.  The board found that work had been commissioned on several of these agreements and payments were made.  There were an additional 34 projects valued at $8,265,000 which were also not the subject of binding agreements, some of which also involved payments.  PwC was not able to determine the dates on which these projects were actually approved.  Mr Dorber's evidence to the Committee that the number of such projects 'did not exceed nine in my time' is not consistent with PwC's or the board's findings and cannot be sustained. 

5.12 Mr Dorber also told the Committee that the projects without executed final contracts 'were always covered by letters of agreement which included a requirement that if a final contract was not signed the funds had to be returned'.  AWI believes that this is an unsatisfactory way of doing business.  The letters of agreement were not an effective means of securing AWI's right to a refund if the contract was not completed and AWI has become involved in legal proceedings as a consequence of that uncertainty.  Moreover, the Committee has already recognised during its discussion with Mr Dorber about the Farmhand appeal donation that letters of agreement covered not all of the uncontracted projects. 

5.13 The board resolved that all projects already commenced should be covered by formal contracts as a matter of priority.  AWI worked diligently with its research providers and found that, contrary to the impression given by Mr Dorber, there were substantive issues outstanding between the parties that required resolution, especially intellectual property rights.  It took a considerable time to resolve those issues and to negotiate and execute final agreements.  All of these projects are now covered by formal contracts.

5.14 One of the major governance issues arising from the absence of contracts is that the financial records of AWI did not match its financial commitments.  Accordingly, as a temporary measure, AWI introduced a procedure whereby all projects were submitted to the board for approval and a separate register of Board-approved projects was developed.  Monthly financial reports now disclose financial commitments accurately. 

Advance payments
5.15 PwC also identified that AWI had paid approximately $4,979,036 on the projects without contracts.  As Mr Dorber claims, over $1 million has been paid by AWI while Mr McLachlan has been Chairman but what Mr Dorber has not explained is that, due to the arrangements made by the previous board on behalf of AWI, AWI has been bound to make those payments. The new board should not be criticised for the circumstances that it has inherited. 

5.16 Mr Dorber described PwC's identification of the payment of $500,000 to a sole trader to produce a film about the wool industry as a 'mythical story'.  He also claimed that 'there were three tenders for that film' and that advance payments are commonplace in the film industry.  There is no evidence on AWI's files of a tender for the head contract.  The contractor presented to AWI two production houses to fill the role of sub-contractor.  While the new board may not have exercised the same judgment to enter into such a contract, it made the decision not to terminate it because AWI had already paid $750,000 in respect of the contract at the time when it first came to the board's attention.

5.17 Mr Dorber does not appear to comprehend that the issue of concern to the new board was that the contractor, a sole trader without any material asset backing, had been advanced $500,000 of the contract amount upon execution of the contract without any form of security over that sum to protect AWI.

5.18 The board has promulgated an Advance Payments policy, which provides guidelines on acceptable levels of advance funding, on the security required and for the application of any interest earned by the recipient to be applied to reduce the contract payments.  That policy and AWI's associated project control procedures prohibit staff from making payments in relation to contracts without an executed contract being in place. 

Election campaign expenses

5.19 Aside from any issues relating strictly to the SFA, the current board has serious concerns about Mr Dorber's conduct in relation to the election that took place at the October 2002 Annual General Meeting.  It is of the view that such conduct was not in the best interests of AWI.

5.20 As an executive director, Mr Dorber was not required to stand for re-election in October 2002.  In those circumstances, in AWI's submission, it was inappropriate for him, as the managing director of AWI, to lead the campaign for the re-election of the existing board, either in promoting those board members or in seeking to undermine the other candidates, including the members of the current board.  However, rather than adopting a neutral stance, Mr Dorber engaged:

(a) i2K Communications ('i2K') to conceive strategies for the promotion of the old board. At Tab 4 are copies of emails exchanged between Claire Braund of i2K and Mr Dorber, evidencing i2K's 'retainer'; and

(b) a freelance journalist to ask certain questions of Mr McLachlan prior to the election (see below). 

David Everist
5.21 Mr Dorber was questioned by the Committee  concerning AWI's engagement of a journalist to attend the Victorian Rural Press Club prior to the Annual General Meeting of AWI in October 2002. The journalist was requested by Mr Dorber to attend a luncheon where one of the candidates for AWI directorship, Mr McLachlan, was to speak.  

5.22 Senator Ferris asked Mr Dorber whether Mr Everist had been given written instructions by AWI and Mr Dorber responded as follows:

'No.  I sought advice from the communications manager about who should do the job and subsequently I had a conversation with Mr Everest (sic) and I said to him, "I understand that you journalists basically write what you want and I am not telling you what you have to do or say but we want a journalist present who ask some of the questions we think do not get asked".  I did not give him any questions to ask nor did I suggest to him what he might ask.  In fact, he was a very insignificant player in the day's events'.

5.23 Mr Dorber's evidence in relation to this issue was not in accordance with the facts. At Tab 5 is a copy of an email from Mr Dorber to Mr Everist dated 17 October 2002 in which Mr Dorber suggests a number of questions for Mr Everist to ask Mr McLachlan at the luncheon in question and a copy of Mr Everist's account.

5.24 The new board believes that this expenditure was not for the benefit of AWI or woolgrowers but for the benefit of the sitting directors.  The board has resolved that any campaigning for re-election must be undertaken at the director's, rather than at the company's, expense.

Donation to Farmhand
5.25 In his submission, Mr Dorber denies that Mr McLachlan, or any other member of the current AWI board, 'issued any instructions revoked or otherwise acted in respect of the farmhand drought relief appeal funds' and that the decision to terminate the proposed donation 'was due to my dissatisfaction with the conduct of certain officers acting on behalf of the organisers of the appeal'.  In fact, at the AWI board meeting on 6 November 2002, Mr McLachlan canvassed the possibility of withdrawing the donation but, on advice from Mr Dorber that a contract had been executed between Red Cross and AWI, the board concluded that the donation was irrevocable at that stage.  

5.26 The board later learnt that:

(a) The cheque for $500,000 was raised by AWI on 11 October and there is no evidence on AWI’s files of any covering letter setting out the proposed terms and conditions of the donation.

(b) Mr Dorber had attempted to initiate a stop payment order on the cheque on the day of the new board’s first meeting referred to above.

(c) There was never any binding contract between Red Cross and AWI.

(d) Mr Dorber took action to recover the donation on 18 November 2002 and it was repaid on 20 November 2002.

Personal matters
Shear Express director's fees
5.27 In his evidence to the Committee, Mr Dorber indicated that he was not able to confirm whether he received fees as a director of AWI's subsidiary company, Shear Express Pty Ltd ('Shear Express'), of which he was the chairman.  He did, however, concede that it was his intention not to take any fees.  The following exchange took place between Mr Dorber and Senator Ferris:

Senator Ferris:
'If you said, publicly, that you were not being paid, wouldn't you worry about your personal credibility if subsequently it appeared that you may have been paid?'

Mr Dorber:
'Absolutely'.

5.28 Shear Express had resolved that Mr Dorber not be entitled to any director's fees because his role as chairman formed part of his duties as managing director of AWI.  The previous AWI board also resolved that Mr Dorber should not be entitled to director's fees.  Mr Dorber had, in fact, rejected a suggestion made to him on 15 August 2002 that he submit a tax invoice for Shear Express director's fees, stating that he had resolved that he would not be paid them.  This notwithstanding, during November 2002, after the first meeting of the new board, Mr Dorber changed his mind and misused his authority.  He telephoned AWI’s Chief Financial Officer, instructing him to arrange payment of Shear Express director's fees from the commencement of his role as chairman to 30 June 2003.  He did this without the knowledge of the board.  

5.29 Subsequently, Mr Dorber received director's fees of $24,062.50 from Shear Express. He has claimed that he cannot recall whether he has been paid despite the fact that he was provided with a Remittance Advice at the time of payment.  A copy of the Remittance Advice is at Tab 6.  Mr Dorber ceased being a director of Shear Express on 11 December 2002.

5.30 On 18 March 2003, AWI instructed its lawyers, Minter Ellison, to write to the managing director of Shear Express, suggesting that Shear Express take immediate steps to recover that payment. At Tab 7 is a copy of Minter Ellison's letter dated 18 March 2003 which details Mr Dorber's statements and the board resolutions made concerning his non-receipt of director's fees.

5.31 AWI instructed Minter Ellison to send a further letter to the managing director of Shear Express on 30 June 2003 because of a concern that the initial letter may have gone astray.  Shear Express responded to that letter on 9 July 2003, indicating that steps were being taken to investigate the matter. At Tabs 8 and 9 are copies of the exchange of correspondence between Minter Ellison and Shear Express. 

5.32 Accordingly, although Mr Dorber's comment to the Committee on 26 June 2003 that this issue 'has never been raised with me' may at that time have been true, AWI has been pursuing this issue since March 2003.  Further, while AWI is contractually bound not to reveal the terms of a Deed of Release between it and Mr Dorber, AWI denies that this issue is 'covered' or 'governed' by it.  Shear Express is not even a party to that Deed. 

Overpayment of directors' fees
5.33 In paragraphs 48 to 50 of Mr Dorber's submission to the Inquiry, he deals with the issue of advance payments of directors' fees and states that 'requests for repayment are being negotiated at the current time'.

5.34 There are no 'negotiations' currently taking place.  Letters sent by AWI's lawyers to former chairman Maree McCaskill and Mr Dorber on 16 May 2003 and 23 May 2003, claiming $10,452.42 and $8,907.67 respectively, were simply ignored, further letters were sent to each on 28 July 2003 and another letter was sent to Mr Dorber's lawyers at his request on 31 July 2003, to which an interim response has been received.  Copies of all of these letters are at Tab 10.  On the other hand, all other former directors of AWI have settled any outstanding debts to the company.

5.35 AWI has established a Remuneration and Appointments Committee of the board, which sets remuneration policy for AWI.

Terminations of Luke and Holly Dorber
5.36 While the new board discussed the matter with Mr Dorber at its first meeting and expressed the view that it is an unwise practice to employ one’s relatives in a public company, it advised him no decision was being taken as to his children’s continued employment with AWI.  Notwithstanding this advice, Mr Dorber unilaterally took the decision to retrench his own son and daughter as employees of AWI in November 2002 and did not advise the chairman or the Board until after he had taken the action.  The relevant correspondence between Mr McLachlan and Mr Dorber is at Tab 11.

5.37 Mr Dorber's alleged concern about possible claims of discrimination is baseless and, therefore, the level of the termination payments made to each of  his children was excessive.  Moreover, despite Mr Dorber's admitted conflict of interest, he determined and authorised those amounts.  In the case of Holly Dorber who was only working casually, 2 days per week, and due to finish with AWI in December 2002, Mr Dorber authorised a termination payment equivalent to 12 months of full time (38 hours per week) salary.

5.38 AWI wishes to stress that it is not commenting negatively on the performances of Luke and Holly Dorber as employees.  The issue of concern to the board and to the shareholders who have raised the issue formally with AWI is Mr Dorber's conflict of interest. 

5.39 Mr Dorber made several statements to the Committee concerning the termination of his son and daughter as employees of AWI in November 2002, including the following:

'Termination payments … were made after the receipt of written or verbal professional advice, which was placed on each former employees' (sic) file.

I am able to indicate to you that in the tabled documents is a letter I handed to the chief financial officer on the day that they were terminated which sets out the advice I had received about their termination.

I sought professional advice which I received in writing and handed to the chief financial officer.

I talked to our lawyers, a professional industrial relations adviser and people who worked for the company and advised on these matters'.

5.40 AWI has inspected the relevant personnel files and neither features a letter of advice or a letter addressed to the Chief Financial Officer setting out advice received concerning the termination of these employees.  Further, neither the Chief Financial Officer nor the Operations Manager of AWI is aware that any such advice was sought.

5.41 In addition, contrary to the following statement of Mr Dorber:

'I cannot tell you what the monetary figure is because the chief financial officer dealt with that and I do not think I have ever actually seen the paperwork',

Mr Dorber himself signed the acceptance of Holly Dorber's termination payment on her behalf and a copy of that document is at Tab 12.  Given the care which Mr Dorber has told the Committee he took to remove himself from any involvement in the recruitment of his 2 children ('the chair of the board…dealt with the entire process'), it is even more unusual that he decided to take such an active role in their termination as employees of AWI. 

Travel costs 

5.42 In paragraph 51 of his submission, Mr Dorber describes a claim by AWI against a former director for travel costs as 'absolutely untrue'.  On the contrary, AWI believes that the former chairman of AWI is liable to repay to AWI costs paid by AWI on her behalf which were not incurred and AWI is continuing to pursue that claim by seeking Ms McCaskill's consent to access the relevant flight records held by QANTAS.  To date, Ms McCaskill has refused or neglected to give that consent.  Regardless of any refunds that QANTAS may ultimately make to AWI, Ms McCaskill is yet to justify to AWI's satisfaction the retention by her of a payment made to her by AWI in respect of that travel.

Disclosure to shareholders
Lease of York Street premises

5.43 In his testimony, Mr Dorber claims that he 'had a written report from the operations manager' concerning the sale or lease of AWI's premises in York Street, Sydney which included a statement that the rental return on the York Street premises would be 11%.  He further indicated that his 'advice' to shareholders at the Annual General Meeting in October 2002 was 'based' upon that report.  A review of AWI's files has demonstrated that no written report from the Operations Manager to the effect stated by Mr Dorber exists and the Operations Manager has no recollection of such a report.  

5.44 Whilst there had been interest expressed in the premises, Mr Dorber must himself have been aware of their unleased status as he held the sole authority to sign leases.  The board believes that Mr Dorber must have known that his advice to the Annual General Meeting concerning this issue was misleading.

Number of employees
5.45 Mr Dorber has denied that he misrepresented in any way to the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting in October 2002 the number of persons then employed by AWI.  At the Annual General Meeting it was the chairman who stated that 'There are no more than about 30 of them' and later that: 'I think there are 32 which includes administrative staff'.

5.46 However, in an e.mail to i2K on 21 September 2002, a copy of which is at Tab 13, Mr Dorber asked Claire Braund to note that 'there are only 27 permanant (sic) full-time employees'.  In fact, as the document at Tab 14 demonstrates, at the time of the Annual General Meeting in 2002 there were 44 full-time employees and 5 part-time or casual employees.  Additionally, there were 6 full-time and 1 part-time contract staff.  It was misleading for the board not to inform the shareholders accurately in that regard. 

5.47 Even at the time of giving his evidence to the Committee, Mr Dorber was maintaining that: 'We had permanent full-time staff of 27 as at last year's AGM.'.  As the attached document shows, that statement is at odds with the true position. 

Annual Report - Directors' emoluments and bands

5.48 In answering questions concerning his salary, Mr Dorber told the Committee that he was 'not responsible for what the auditors put in the annual report about bands'.  In fact, the table in the annual report that shows the bands of income earned by directors is prepared annually by AWI, not by the auditors, and the chairman and the managing director on behalf of the board sign the annual report. 

5.49 In any event, the previous board chose not to disclose in the annual report the advance salary payments which they received (see above) and the current board believes that such advance payments should have been disclosed in that way.

Mr Targ and Dr Stephens

5.50 In both his written submission and his testimony before the Committee, Mr Dorber has made allegations concerning the appointment of Mr Les Targ and raised issues in relation to the salaries of Mr Targ and Dr Len Stephens.  In the latter regard, Mr Dorber has claimed that Mr McLachlan 'arranged to have [Mr Targ] receive an alleged $40k increase' and that 'he asked the Board to increase [Dr Stephens' salary] by between $30K-40K'.

5.51 The relevant facts are as follows:

(a) The acting Chief Executive Officer and acting Chief Operating Officer of AWI interviewed Mr Targ before he was appointed as Acting Commercial Manager in December 2002.  AWI contacted referees other than Mr McLachlan during this process;

(b) Mr McLachlan disclosed to the board his previous association with Mr Targ prior to Mr Targ's appointment;

(c) AWI's Remuneration and Appointments Committee decided to appoint Mr Targ to the position of General Manager Commercial three months after he commenced employment as Acting Commercial Manager;

(d) The Remuneration and Appointments Committee determined the salary levels for the Chief Executive Officer (Dr Stephens) and all those who reported directly to him, including Mr Targ; and

(e) Mr McLachlan did not initiate either of the actions described in paragraphs (c) and (d) above.

Investment decisions

Non-termination of contracts such as European Wool Awards and Million Dollar Movie

5.52 Mr Dorber noted that the current AWI board has proceeded with the financing of a film and the European Wool Awards despite its expressed concerns about weaknesses in standard controls and procedures.  Once again, the current board's actions are not necessarily indicative of a belief that those projects are meritorious but result from the commitments made by the previous board.  It would have been wasteful for AWI to terminate the contracts without a result after the expenditure of substantial sums of money.

Scoring system
5.53 The Innovar scoring system to which Mr Dorber has referred in his evidence is a useful tool but it can only be applied to some on-farm projects, which make up less than 40% of AWI's projects.  It has no application to off-farm projects, such as a project to develop more efficient wool spinning processes.  Mr Dorber's claim that it was 'used for almost every project and concept assessment from approximately May 2001' is not true.  There is no evidence that the scoring system nor any other objective appraisal methodology was ever applied to the following projects:

(a) 'Million Dollar Movie';

(b) European Wool Awards;

(c) Farmhand appeal donation;

(d) donation to the Charles Sturt University's Somerville Collection; and

(e) 'Woodlot' project. 

Establishment of AWI web site

5.54 After developing a specification with the assistance of an information technology expert from PwC, AWI called for tenders to establish its website.  The same expert was part of the tender evaluation team which, after due analysis of each tender against AWI's formal requirements, recommended a supplier.  Upon being advised of this, another tenderer complained to AWI's chairman, who then requested that an investigation take place.  The relevant correspondence is at Tab 15. 

5.55 Mr Dorber supervised the conduct of the investigation and then awarded the contract to the tenderer that had made the complaint, notwithstanding that the contract was for $195,000, which was $84,000 more than the originally selected tender.  The documentation in relation to this change of decision does not clearly disclose the reasons for it but the result is that AWI must spend a significant sum to modify its website because the technical solution did not fully meet AWI's formal requirements.  The contract has been completed and the contractor paid in full.

5.56 The board of AWI is aware from emails held by the company that the ultimately successful tenderer was very active in the campaign in October 2002 for the re-election of the former directors.  Emails demonstrating the involvement of that tenderer are at Tab 16.

Peter Anderson & Co Pty Limited

5.57 Mr Dorber has responded to matters raised in Mr McLachlan's letter to shareholders by stating to the Committee that:

'Mr Anderson's company did not receive monthly payments for which there was either no documentation or disclosure to the company and its board about the work being done.'

5.58 In response to a letter from Minter Ellison to Peter Anderson & Co Pty Limited ('PAC'), PAC's lawyers stated that the alleged contract under which Mr Anderson continued to receive monthly payments from AWI of $11,000 until October 2002 'was a verbal agreement between PAC and AWI's then Managing Director, Colin Dorber'.  Further, PAC's lawyers did not dispute AWI's claim that Mr Anderson had stated that PAC was 'not required to document its findings' and PAC refused to reveal details of its work to the current Board of AWI even though PAC was paid by AWI.  Copies of the exchange of correspondence between Minter Ellison and the solicitors for PAC are at Tab 17. 

5.59 However, AWI agrees with Mr Dorber's statement that neither Mr Anderson nor PAC or any other related entity received a payment of approximately $1 million or any similar amount in respect of IT or other services.  AWI in fact over a period paid $1 million to another company for IT services and network maintenance and the Committee appears to have confused that amount with other payments made to PAC. 

General

Approaches by AWI to former directors

5.60 Mr Dorber reiterated on several occasions during the course of his evidence that he has 'not been approached by any person about allegations of impropriety' and that such approaches had not been made to any of the former board members of AWI.  That statement ignores the fact that Mr Dorber received at least one letter in late May 2003 concerning the overpayment of director's fees (paragraph 5.34 above), even if it is assumed that Minter Ellison's letter to the Managing Director of Shear Express dated 18 March 2003 concerning overpaid Shear Express director's fees was not received or conveyed to him.  

5.61 Earlier, on 18 March 2003, AWI had instructed Minter Ellison to send correspondence to Mr Dorber requesting him to explain how contributions made by AWI to the New South Wales Sports Council for the Disabled and to Cromer High School were appropriate uses of its funds and he instructed his solicitors to respond (paragraphs 5.5 - 5.8 above). 

5.62 In addition, while it is true that Mr Dorber has not specifically been asked about the payment of $55,000 to which reference is made in paragraphs 53 and 54 of his submission, AWI's lawyers did request him to assist AWI with its enquiries concerning a claim made by the party to whom the sum of $55,000 was paid.  Through his lawyers, Mr Dorber refused to co-operate.  

5.63 Finally, as already noted above (paragraphs 5.34 and 5.42),  AWI's lawyers also approached other directors for overpaid director's fees and is currently pursuing Ms McCaskill both for those and in relation to travel costs.  

PwC Report and letter to shareholders

5.64 Mr Dorber claimed in his evidence that 'a letter to shareholders purporting to be the outcome of an audit by PricewaterhouseCoopers is not in fact a fair reflection of that report'.  The form of letter sent by Mr McLachlan to shareholders on 5 June 2003 which summarised the findings of PwC not only accurately represents what appears in the PwC Report but was expressly approved by PwC before it was sent.  Indeed, AWI was compelled to seek PwC's consent to send the letter because to do otherwise would have been a breach of PwC's retainer and the final letter featured amendments that PwC required to the initial draft. 

6. OTHER MATTERS RAISED BY THE COMMITTEE 

6.1 In a letter dated 29 July 2003, the Committee requested AWI to incorporate in its submission advice on certain matters appearing in an attached schedule.  To the extent that those matters have not already been addressed in this submission, AWI sets out its comments below.  References to page numbers in the sub-headings are to the relevant pages of Mr Dorber's evidence in Hansard.

Audit Certificate - SFA clause 22.2 (page 12)
6.2 The board has ascertained that no certificate required by clause 22.2 of the SFA was ever provided by PwC for the 2001/2002 accounts.  The board understands that the auditors met with Mr Dorber and AWI's Chief Financial Officer to discuss this in the context of the statutory audit.  PwC has advised the new board that Mr Dorber requested that the auditors only conduct the statutory audit.

6.3 AWI and PwC are currently in discussions about the provision of a certificate for the 2002/03 accounts and PwC is preparing an estimate of the cost, an indication of the final report wording and a broad methodology for AWI's consideration.  However, the board has no plans at this stage to seek a certificate retrospectively for the 2001/02 year.  

6.4 The board is concerned that the certificate required under clause 22.2 may be heavily qualified.  During the process, it will be necessary for the auditors to ascertain whether expenditure was efficient, effective and ethical and for the benefit of Australian woolgrowers and they can only test a sample of transactions according to their tests of materiality.  

Exchange of correspondence between AWI and AFFA (pages 5, 13 and 20)
6.5 Relevant documentation held by AWI is at Tab 18.  These documents provide some of the context of the complimentary remarks referred to by Mr Dorber, which appear to the current board to be in the nature of relationship building efforts rather than unqualified acceptance and endorsement.  Internal inquiries have not revealed that AWI has any documents relating to a request by AFFA for AWI to reduce the amount of information provided in satisfaction of its reporting obligations under the SFA.

Project management and assessment tool (page 6)

6.6 The Innovar project scoring system is referred to in paragraph 5.53 above.  It is a system which seeks to quantify a project's potential to woolgrowers.  An example is at Tab 19.  

2002 AGM tape (page 8)

6.7 A transcript of the proceedings of the 2002 Annual General Meeting is at Tab 20.

Recruitment of Luke Dorber (page 26)

6.8 A file note prepared by AWI's Operations Manager on 5 June 2001, together with a letter of appointment located on Luke Dorber's personnel file, are at Tab 21.  The note sets out the circumstances from the Operation Manager's perspective while the appointment letter records the authorisation of the AWI chair.  The job was not advertised as such.

Recruitment of Holly Dorber (page 27)
6.9 There is no evidence on AWI's files of any advertisement for the position offered to Holly Dorber and the Operations Manager, who was responsible for the recruitment of receptionists, cannot recall the circumstances of her appointment.  

Value of redundancy packages (page 28)
6.10 The value of each redundancy package is set out in the calculation sheets located on the personnel files, which are at Tab 22.  AWI also refers to paragraphs 5.36 to 5.41 in this regard.

Rental for York Street premises (page 32)

6.11 At Tab 23 are a facsimile transmission from Chesterton International to AWI dated 11 September 2002 and an e.mail from Mr Dorber to the AWI board dated 12 September 2002 which give an indication of the amount that AWI was attempting to secure as rental for these premises.

Cost of gymnasium and trainer (page 33)

6.12 The cost of equipping the gymnasium was $47,750.  The cost of the trainer was $113,400 for the full year.  Staff contributed a total of between $700 and $1,000 per month.  

Appointment of Creative Logistics Pty Ltd ('Creative') (page 35)
6.13 Nobody at AWI can authoritatively recall how Creative was appointed to this project and there is no evidence on AWI's files of any tendering process.  Anecdotal evidence suggests that the work performed by Creative was in any event sound.

AUSTRALIAN WOOL INNOVATION LIMITED

per:

……………………………….

Brian van Rooyen

Deputy Chairman

